

Carers Victoria submission National Disability Agreement Review Productivity Commission Issues Paper

September 2018

ABOUT CARERS VICTORIA

Carers Victoria is the state-wide peak organisation representing people who provide care. We represent more than 736,600 family carers across Victoria – people caring for someone with a disability, mental illness, chronic health issue or an age-related condition.

People receiving care could be a parent, child, spouse/partner, grandparent, other relative or friend. Carers Victoria is a member of the National Network of Carers Associations, and the Victorian Carer Services Network. Carers Victoria is a non-profit association which relies on public and private sector support to fulfil its mission with and on behalf of carers.

Carers Victoria is a membership-based organisation. Our members are primarily family carers, who play an important role in informing our work, contributing to advocacy and strategic aims, and distributing information more widely to other carers.

This policy paper was prepared by Carers Victoria's Policy Team.

© Carers Association Victoria 2018.

This work is copyright. Apart from any use as permitted under the *Copyright Act 1968*, all other rights are reserved. Requests and inquiries concerning reproduction and rights should be addressed to the Copyright Officer, Carers Victoria, PO Box 2204, Footscray, Victoria, 3011.

For information contact: Scott Walker Chief Executive Officer Carers Victoria Telephone: 03 9396 9509 Facsimile: 03 9396 9555

Website: www.carersvictoria.org.au

CONTENTS

Summary of Carers Victoria recommendations	. 4
Introduction	. 5
Carers Victoria response to selected questions	. 5
Does the Commission's representation of the policy architecture supporting the NDA in figure 1 adequately capture all relevant policy areas? Is anything missing?	. 5
What framework and assessment criteria should be used to review the NDA? Is there anything missing from the proposed framework and criteria (in figure 2)? What other frameworks could be used?	. 5
Assessing the National Disability Agreement	. 6
Purpose and Scope of the NDA	. 6
In light of developments in the disability policy landscape and intergovernmental funding arrangements, is an NDA still required?	. 6
If so, how can the NDA remain policy relevant in an evolving policy environment?	. 8
What should be the purpose of the NDA? Is it an effective accountability mechanism for government actions relating to disability? If not, what are the more effective mechanisms that could be used?	. 9
What should be the scope of the NDA? Should it continue to cover all people with disability? What services should it cover (such as specialist disability services and/or mainstream services, including mental health, healthcare, aged care, education, transporthousing and justice)?	
Is there a coherent link between the NDA and other related agreements, strategies and policies, such as the NDS, the NDIS and State and Territory disability strategies?	. 9
Objectives, outcomes and outputs of the NDA	12
Are the objectives, outcomes and outputs of the NDA relevant in the context of contemporary policy settings? Are they clear and consistent?	12
How do they, or should they, relate to the six outcomes articulated in the NDS and the outcomes of the NDIS?	13
To what extent should the outcomes be aspirational (worked towards but not necessarily achieved within a specified time period), versus achievable within a defined period?	14
Should there be specific performance measures linked to the outputs and if so, what shouthey be?	
How have the roles and responsibilities of Governments changed since the NDA was updated in 2012? Are roles and responsibilities clear?	18
How has the introduction of the NDIS impacted on access to services for people not eligible for the NDIS?	
Should the agreement have regard to the way States and Territories are delivering service to people with a disability outside the NDIS (for example, through mainstream services or through specialist disability services)? If so, why?	
References	23

Summary of Carers Victoria recommendations

Carers Victoria recommends:

- evaluation subsequent to implementation of the ICSS in providing better support for families and carers should be reported against the outputs of the NDA.
- development of a positive policy framework that sheds the low expectations of past
 policy settings is required to assist people with disability, their families and carers to
 not only aspire to, but to achieve an ordinary life.
- achievable outcomes should be subject to realistic timelines; trials and evaluations similar to those which marked the beginning of the NDIS
- Agreement have regard to the way States and Territories are delivering services to people with a disability outside the NDIS.
- assessment criteria should include identifying any policies and actions by Commonwealth, State and Territory government contradictory to the stated objective of the NDA.
- the NDA emphasises achievable outcomes for people with disability, their families and carers.
- reference in the current NDA to the importance of data collection should be retained and enhanced in a future NDA to provide confidence it the accountability and performance measures outlined.
- achievable outcomes should be subject to realistic timelines; trials and evaluations similar to those which marked the beginning of the NDIS.
- the NDA outcome of participation and social inclusion should explicitly refer to both people with disability and carers in line with the performance indicators.
- the Agreement have regard to the way States and Territories are delivering services to people with a disability outside the NDIS.

Introduction

Carers Victoria has considered the relevance of NDA within contemporary policy settings and considers there is still much to be achieved in improving participation, social inclusion, choice, wellbeing and independence for people with disability. Carers Victoria especially wants to see improved support for families and carers of people with disability and view the NDA as an essential accountability mechanism for government action. As a member of Carers Australia, Carers Victoria supports the national position contained in their submission. Our response to the issues paper is therefore focused on improving the accountability of the NDA in achieving outcomes for Victorians with disability, their families and carers.

Carers Victoria response to selected questions

Does the Commission's representation of the policy architecture supporting the NDA in figure 1 adequately capture all relevant policy areas? Is anything missing?

Carers Victoria recommends the current policy architecture supporting the NDA can be enhanced with the inclusion of the:

- 1. National Carer Strategy and Action Plan (2011-2014),
- Current Specialist Disability Accommodation (SDA) Pricing and Payments Framework including any revisions made in 2018, and
- 3. National Disability Insurance Scheme (Specialist Disability Accommodation) Rules 2016.

The NDA should also make reference to state and territory disability and carer legislation and policies.

What framework and assessment criteria should be used to review the NDA? Is there anything missing from the proposed framework and criteria (in figure 2)? What other frameworks could be used?

Carers Victoria supports the Productivity Commission's view that the "intention of the framework is to clearly link government policy actions with the overall objective of disability policy, using performance reporting to enhance government accountability."

Carers Victoria considers what is missing from the framework is the level of support required by different cohorts of people with disability to facilitate participation, social inclusion, choice, wellbeing and independence. People with different types of disability such as intellectual disability and some people from different population groups, such as culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds are likely to need additional support.

Families and carers play key roles in achieving these outcomes for people and should be recognised for this as well as some families and carers who require additional support in their caring role.

Carers Victoria recommends more effective alignment of all levels of government policy with the NDA. Carers Victoria is aware separate agreements between the Parties may ultimately hinder the overall objective of the NDA. For instance, the Heads of Agreement between the Commonwealth and the Victorian Governments on the National Disability Insurance Scheme can be considered undermining the overall objective of the NDA "that people with disability and their carers have an enhanced quality of life and participate as valued members of the community.

Current practice in Victorian DHHS shared supported accommodation vacancy management, is for the NDIA to allocate the place to a participant with SDA in their plan despite any expressed preference to live independently (alone or with family). This is legislated in the National Disability Insurance Scheme (Plan Management Rules) 2013, in particular rules 6.8–6.13.1 The Framework encourages the expectation that eligible participants will conform to the status quo where choices of where they live, with whom and in what environment are made by others.

Carers Victoria recommends assessment criteria should include identifying any policies and actions by Commonwealth, State and Territory government that are contradictory to the stated objective of the NDA.

Assessing the National Disability Agreement

Purpose and Scope of the NDA

In light of developments in the disability policy landscape and intergovernmental funding arrangements, is an NDA still required?

Carers Victoria believes a National Disability Agreement is still critical to the national policy landscape to sustain a long-term approach to changing the lives of people with disability, their families and carers. However, Carers Victoria recommends a revised NDA should set clearer

targets and timelines to achieve its purpose, particularly in relation to families and carers because the current Agreement is too broad to be effective.

Carers Victoria supports keeping the NDA because it is a policy that explicitly refers to ensuring carers of people with disability are well supported. Importantly, the Agreement does not stipulate the support for carers is predicated on the eligibility of the person with disability for the NDIS. Without a continuing NDA, it is likely the majority of Australians with disability who are ineligible for the Scheme, their families and carers will not have a national policy framework to address their needs.

In addition, the NDA is crucial because national reforms to services and supports specific to carers have lagged implementation of reform to disability policy (as well as aged care, mental health and health policy). The proposed Integrated Carer Support Service (ICSS) is not planned to fully roll out until late 2019. Carers Victoria recommends evaluation subsequent to the implementation of the ICSS in providing better support for families and carers should be reported against the outputs of the NDA.

Carers Victoria envisages a revised NDA would provide an important impetus for the Victorian Government to actively ensure better support for families and carers as well as people with disability. While the Victorian Government has shown a commendable commitment to address the social and economic exclusion of people with disability as well as high rates of violence, poor educational and health outcomes of the past with its current State Disability Plan *Absolutely Everybody*, its commitment to families and carers is ad hoc. For example, in its Annual Report (2017), there are no measures outlined including families and carers in achieving the strategies of the State Disability Plan. Moreover, references to family and friend carers are used interchangeability with disability support workers.²

While a Carer Recognition Act was legislated in Victoria in 2012, Government reporting is largely limited to information dissemination and promotion of the cares relationships principles within government departments. However, this appears to more successful in some branches and divisions than others.

The Victorian Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) publishes notes on its Compliance with the Carers Recognition Act 2012. According to its Annual Report (2016-2017), "the Department has taken all practical measures to comply with its obligations under the Act".

Carers Victoria strongly supports the recently launched inaugural Victorian Carer Strategy 2018-2022. Carers Victoria has advocated for a whole-of-Government Carer Strategy, given the seismic reforms occurring in disability, mental health, aged care and health services. However, the commitment "to strategies that focus on improving outcomes for carers" is stated without a framework for measuring the impact of these strategies. Moreover, the Victorian Carer Strategy does not specifically reference the National Disability Agreement or include measures to determine the efficacy of the strategies in achieving outcome (c) of the NDA – [that] families and carers are well supported.

A revised NDA with a national approach remains critical given the interconnectedness between Commonwealth and State and Territory funding. Due consideration should also be given by COAG to identifying shared roles and responsibilities across the NDA and the five other National Agreements in achieving outcomes for people with disability, their families and carers.

If so, how can the NDA remain policy relevant in an evolving policy environment?

The NDA can remain policy relevant by being regularly reviewed to ensure it reflects current roles and responsibilities, funding arrangements and programs.

The NDA can remain relevant for families and carers by ensuring there continues to focus on outcomes that meet their dual needs as consumers who utilise disability services in concert with or on behalf of a person with disability and as individuals in their own right with improved opportunities to achieve physical and mental wellbeing, economic security and social participation.

Support is only provided with the disabled person in mind. I am dismayed that now I am also disabled thanks to caring for two family members, I am still INVISIBLE to CARER PROVIDERS. NO ONE IS LISTENING TO ME. NO ONE SEES ME. NO ONE GIVES A DAM (sic) ABOUT ME.

Respondent to 2017 Carer Survey

What should be the purpose of the NDA? Is it an effective accountability mechanism for government actions relating to disability? If not, what are the more effective mechanisms that could be used?

The purpose of the NDA should be to ensure State and Territory governments work in concert with the Federal government to *regularly review and determine* each parties' roles and responsibilities in delivering its objectives. Unfortunately, its effectiveness as an accountability mechanism has been limited so far. However, Carers Victoria believes the NDA can be an effective accountability mechanism if the right measures are included and reporting is public.

What should be the scope of the NDA? Should it continue to cover all people with disability? What services should it cover (such as specialist disability services and/or mainstream services, including mental health, healthcare, aged care, education, transport, housing and justice)?

The NDA should cover all people with disability of all ages, their families and carers, including people eligible for individualised support packages under the NDIS. This will ensure a cohesive approach to disability across Australia. Separating specialist disability services from mainstream services, including mental health, healthcare, aged care, education, transport, housing and justice will invariably lead to a siloed approach for people with disability their families and carers.

The current NDA makes reference to the importance of data collection and the National Disability Research and Development Agenda. Carers Victoria recommends these should be retained and enhanced in a future NDA to provide confidence it the accountability and performance measures outlined.

Is there a coherent link between the NDA and other related agreements, strategies and policies, such as the NDS, the NDIS and State and Territory disability strategies?

Carers Victoria is very mindful the NDIS remains just one aspect of broader policy frameworks and service delivery for people with disability, their families and carers. As discussed above, the NDIS is rapidly and significantly altering the social services landscape – it does not just affect people with disability eligible for individualised support packages but potentially everyone in the community. When the dust settles, the service delivery landscape

will be fundamentally different. However, the NDIS is only expected to provide individualised funding packages to 460,000 Australians, well short of the 4.3 million Australians with disability and 2.7 million carers.³

While the NDA signals intentions for Governments to better support families and carers, a key mechanism for doing so (albeit for a small number of carers) is the NDIS Act 2013. Yet carers receive only nominal recognition in the Act (the Act). Section 3 (3)(c)(ii) of the Act states regard is to be had to the *Carer Recognition Act 2010* (the *Carer Recognition Act*). The *Carer Recognition Act* includes a Statement for Australia's Carers (section 6) which recognises and respects the critical role carers have in the lives of people with care and support needs. It emphasises partnerships in decision-making with service providers, taking into account carers' own needs within and beyond the caring role, and providing them with timely support.⁴

However, the legislation, where 'regard' of the Carer Recognition Act does not confer any legal duties on the NDIA.

The NDIS Act 2013, further nominally recognises care relationships at:

- section 4(3) 'people with disability and their families and carers should have certainty
 that people with disability will receive the care and support they need over their lifetime'.
- section 4(12) 'the role of families, carers and other significant persons in the lives of people with disability is to be acknowledged and respected'.
- section 5(e) 'the supportive relationships, friendships and connections with others of people with disability should be recognised'.
- section 31(c) 'the preparation, review and replacement of a participant's plan, and the
 management of the funding for supports under a participant's plan, should, so far as
 reasonably practicable...consider and respect the role of family, carers and other
 persons who are significant in the life of the participant'.

Again however, this nominal recognition places no legal duty on the NDIA to assess carer needs or provide reasonable and necessary supports to sustain the care relationship or consider the willingness of the carer to continue to provide the same level of informal supports.

There is a requirement under the Act to consider informal supports provided by carers, recognising the cost efficiencies of informal supports. Specifically, in allocating funding to participants, the planner must consider what is reasonable to expect families, carers, informal networks and communities to provide [S34(1)(e) NDIS Act]. The NDIS Rules for participants

reiterates this at Rule 2.3(e) 'the funding or provision of the support takes account of what is reasonable to expect families, carers and informal networks and the community to provide'. In deciding what is reasonable for families to provide, the NDIA is to 'consider' [Rule 3.4(b) Supports for Participants Rules]:

- the extent of any risks to the wellbeing of the participant arising from the participant's reliance on the support of family members, carers, informal networks and the community
- the suitability of family members, carers, informal networks and the community to provide the supports that the participant requires
- the extent to which informal supports contribute to or reduce a participant's level of independence and other outcomes, and
- the desirability of supporting and developing the potential contributions of informal supports and networks within their communities.

The following factors may be considered with regards to the suitability of carers:

- the age and capacity of the participant's family members and carers, including the
 extent to which family and community supports are available to sustain them in their
 caring role
- the intensity and type of support that is required and whether it is age and gender appropriate for a particular family member or carer to be providing that care, and
- the extent of any risks to the long-term wellbeing of any of the family members or carers (for example, a child should not be expected to provide care for their parents, siblings or other relatives or be required to limit their educational opportunities).

Other instances where the NDIA must consider the care relationship are framed negatively. For example, the funding of Specialist Disability Accommodation whereby the parent or parents of the participant cannot reside in the dwelling [Rule 6.1(c) SDA Rules 2016], or the dwelling cannot be the family home [addendum to the Terms of Business, p 8]. Further, where relatives are registered SDA providers they 'must not preference one participant over another, in that residents of SDA must be afforded the same treatment, rights and choices as all other residents' [addendum to the Terms of Business, p 12]. The purpose here is not to comment on the individual merits of each of these 'safeguards', but to highlight most obligations the NDIA has to care relationships are negatively constructed. In contrast the NDA provides an opportunity for a more positive approach to supporting people in care relationships.

An example of a more positive approach is in the United Kingdom with the introduction of personalised supports and individual budgets has been more incremental, building on existing service delivery rather than a complete replacement of current State or territory provided supports. The *UK Care Act 2014* entitles carers to an individual needs assessment, in addition to the person with disability. Further, 'the Care Act 2014 has given parity to carers, who are now entitled to have their own eligible needs met through a carer's personal budget'.

Notwithstanding the relatively small scope but large impact of the NDIS, better links between State and territory disability strategies, the National Disability Strategy and the NDA will help to address service delivery gaps both for NDIS participants and people who are not eligible for the NDIS, as well as their families and carers.

Objectives, outcomes and outputs of the NDA

Are the objectives, outcomes and outputs of the NDA relevant in the context of contemporary policy settings? Are they clear and consistent?

The objectives, outcomes and outputs of the NDA are still relevant in the context of contemporary policy settings. People with disability, their families and carers should be supported by the community to achieve economic participation and social inclusion; to enjoy choice, wellbeing and the opportunity to live as independently as possible and families and carers should be recognised for their contribution and supported in their caring role. In relation to carers, the Agreement should stipulate carers are well supported to identify and address their own needs, even if this means reducing their caring role in order to pursue the carers goals and aspirations.

However, the current Agreement does not make clear enhancing the quality of life for people with disability, their families and carers requires redressing decades of policies embedding low expectations for people with disability, their families and carers, poor service design and heavily rationed service delivery.

[My caring role involves trying] to assist in accessing education and social activities where the bar is appropriately set rather then (sic) settling for the low expectations often put on her.

Respondent to 2017 Carer Survey

Further to this, the implementation of the NDIS has demonstrated even the NDIA, has its own challenges in supporting people with disability to live as independently as possible. The nominal recognition of carers in the Act has been discussed above, however, Carers Victoria is also concerned about participants' own needs. Recently at a hearing of the Administrative Appeals Tribunal, the NDIA argued for a participant to reduce face-to-face socialising, working and contributing to his community in a voluntary capacity and to instead do so from his home via digital technologies such as Skype or telephone to reduce the cost of taxi use.⁵

Funding for Specialist Disability Accommodation (SDA) is another area where legacy policies of States and Territories have contributed to a high level of inertia by the NDIA to fund participants outside the 'group-home' scenario or other institutional settings. In the Barwon region of Victoria, 124 people aged under 65 were admitted to residential aged care despite the NDIS being fully rolled out in the region ⁶

Underpinning participation at the most basic level for people with disability and carers are income support payments. The policy landscape for these payments is also very different from 2013. Currently about 60 per cent of all new applicants for DSP are rejected on their first application. Carers seeking income support are now unable to claim back payment from the day of notification. Carers Victoria consistently receives feedback from carers of people with mental illness, their applications for Carer Payment are often rejected because their role is not assessed in the same way as carers of people with physical or intellectual disabilities.

How do they, or should they, relate to the six outcomes articulated in the NDS and the outcomes of the NDIS?

The objectives, outcomes and outputs of the current NDA are somewhat related to the six outcomes articulated in the National Disability Strategy. Carers are often utilised as a resource in the disability services, health and aged care systems where their needs are rarely identified and met in their own right. The National Disability Strategy replicates this by avoiding mention of specific actions that would improve the lives of families and carers in their own right. This is illustrated by the fact the only explicit reference is made in Priority 4 "making sure community support networks are available to provide information and support to families and carers".

The National Disability Insurance Scheme is a key action under the Strategy and it currently appears all the eggs of the current NDS have been placed into the basket of the NDIS as the most major reform in social policy since the establishment of Medicare. However, it is necessary to reiterate the number of people eligible for NDIS individualised support packages compared with Australians with disability who are not eligible is low: only 10 per cent of the

one million Victorians with disability will be eligible to receive individualised support packages over their lifetime. Moreover, the community has seen many challenges with the implementation of the NDIS. Families and carers are significantly involved in pre-planning, planning and plan implementation but positive outcomes are not necessarily enjoyed by themselves.

[My role has involved] co-ordinating the entire thing, including hundreds of hours of meetings and preparing documents. I then had to put dozens of hours into setting the package up when we finally received it, including negotiating a dispute between services who got in a wrangle about the support they were providing to my brother.

Respondent to 2017 Carer Survey

The objectives, outcomes and outputs of the NDA should be seen as the foundation of national policy for people with disability, their families and carers. Carers Victoria is optimistic changes to the NDA have the potential to impact the entire architecture of disability and carer policy.

To what extent should the outcomes be aspirational (worked towards but not necessarily achieved within a specified time period), versus achievable within a defined period?

Carers Victoria does not believe aspirational and achievable outcomes need to be mutually exclusive. Some outcomes are more aspirational than others; for example, "families and carers are well supported". However, an achievable outcome may be measuring the number of families and carers whose own needs are identified and met within a specific time frame.

Carers Victoria recommends the NDA emphasises achievable outcomes for people with disability, their families and carers. These cohorts have much lower participation in economic and social activities other Australians take for granted. While the situations of individual carers and families are diverse, there is a strong and growing body of evidence in the literature that health, social and economic problems disproportionately affect the caring population in comparison to the general population.

Potential outcomes to reduce the exclusionary impacts of disability must be sufficiently complex and include the impacts experienced by both people with a disability, their family and carers – particularly those who provide intensive and long-term care.

Carers Victoria recommends the development of a positive policy framework that sheds the low expectations of past policy settings to assist people with disability, their families and carers to not only aspire to, but to achieve an ordinary life.

Further to this, Carers Victoria recommends achievable outcomes should be subject to realistic timelines; trials and evaluations similar to those which marked the beginning of the NDIS. However, such trials and evaluations can only be useful if learnings are made public prior to decisions made about proceeding or terminating the trial. These can be developed for innovative supports and services, particularly those which will meet the needs of people who do not receive individualised funding packages through the NDIS. States and Territories must be given the opportunity to consult their own communities "consistent with local needs and priorities" in order to develop plans which align with national goals.

Further refinement of outcomes should be subject to community consultation. For instance, participation in employment requires nuanced attention to the gender, age and time spent out of the paid workforce by the carer in order to develop a strategy to increase economic participation.

Carers Victoria recommends the NDA outcome of participation and social inclusion should explicitly refer to both people with disability and carers in line with the performance indicators.

Should there be specific performance measures linked to the outputs and if so, what should they be?

Carers Victoria recommends the inclusion of specific performance measures linked to the NDA's outputs. Notably, the NDA's Performance Benchmarks for carers only stipulates the "Parties agree that further work will be undertaken to develop a benchmark with a quantifiable target for Outcome (c)...", however, it does not appear this occurred. Indeed, it can be argued with the NDIS Act (2013), families and carers have been effectively marginalised.

Carers Victoria acknowledges carers and caring roles and relationships are diverse and this assumption underpins the comments made about each of the current performance indicators in relation to carers.

Carers Victoria recommends the current performance indicators relating to carers (g – i) remain but require further development.

(g) proportion of carers with disability participating in the labour force;

Carers Victoria recommends this performance indicator remain with a more nuanced focus on carers with particular attention paid to the workforce participation of carers. In Victoria, only 58 per cent of all carers participate in the workforce; of the State's population of primary carers (239,000) 42 per cent participate in the workforce. Carers Victoria recommends any emphasis on workforce participation must be done by taking into account the effects of time out of the workforce, age and gender. As Carers Australia's submission to the Department of Jobs and Small Business Discussion Paper: The next generation of employment services makes clear, "carers, especially primary carers, seeking employment after a significant time out of the workforce share many of the characteristics of other disadvantaged job seekers at risk of economic disadvantage."8

Young carers are also likely to require additional support to complete their education and to develop their career goals. A 2017 report by the Australian Institute of Family Studies (AIFS) highlighted disadvantage among young carers due to their care responsibilities. This research taken from Growing Up in Australia: The Longitudinal Study of Australian Children (LSAC) identified young carers in Year 9 performed lower in reading and numeracy skills. Of the 3,341 children in the cohort who completed the survey, 39 per cent (40 per cent of boys and 37 per cent of girls) reported providing some type of care. Caring for multiple people was also not uncommon, with almost 20 per cent of these young people disclosing care relationships with more than one person. Compared to their non-caring peers, in reading, boys were 1.9 years behind and girls were 1.6 years behind their peers when they spent two or more hours per day as a carer. It has been very difficult to find rich, large-scale data, to identify the extent of young carer educational disadvantage, however the LSAC results are likely to reflect the circumstances of a much larger age cohort of young carers.

Further, the NDA must appreciate the issue of Australia's ageing population. In Victoria there are currently 5,900 primary carers over the age of 65 looking after an adult child with disability at home. Parent of adults with disability have not yet transitioned from 'employment' to 'retirement' in ways that remotely resemble their peers or their own parents. Transition and/or succession planning is a known challenge for parents of adults with disability. Workforce participation is not relevant to carers in their 70s, 80s or 90s, however, a good retirement, without financial stress is relevant to this cohort.

(h) proportion of carers of people with disability who report their health and wellbeing as positive;

Carers Victoria recommends this performance indicator should remain.

Carers experience poorer mental health outcomes to people who do not care^{1,9} ¹⁰ A lack of support for caring roles, along with specific characteristics of care relationships can increase risk of mental ill health and stress related issues. This includes depression with 56 per cent having at least moderate depression and one fifth of them having severe depression,¹¹ as well as experiencing high levels of anxiety¹² psychological distress and lower perceptions of self-efficacy and personal well-being.¹³¹⁴ This can remain even after care roles have ceased .¹⁵ Some research also suggests carers are significantly more likely to have suicidal thoughts than non-carers due to feelings of hopelessness.¹⁶ ¹⁷In addition, mental health carers have worse self-reported mental health outcomes than carers who are not supporting a person with mental illness.¹⁸

(i) Proportion of primary carers of people with disability who are satisfied with the range of services available, and with the adequacy and quality of services provided, to the person with disability and to the carer.

Carers Victoria recommends this performance indicator remain but be clearly differentiated between satisfaction with services for the person with disability and satisfaction with services for the carer in their own right. Carers often report the availability and quality of disability services has a direct impact on their ability to pursue their social aspirations, economic participation and ability to study. However, as illustrated by the following quote, carers may

My employer is very understanding. I have missed many hours of work taking my husband to medical appointments or staying home when carers are unavailable. I am also basically always tired so never quite as effective as I should be when at work.

Respondent to 2017 Carer Survey

also require a range of other supports such as flexible workplaces and career development support.

Measures of satisfaction should be developed and conducted by an independent agency, such as the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, however, the parties to the Agreement should also be informed by the community and peak bodies representing carers.

Carers Victoria also suggests more context is needed for this performance indicator. Currently, the Victorian Carer Recognition Act (2012) does legislate service providers to include carers' views when they plan and delivery services that affect the care relationship. However, a survey conducted by Carers Victoria in 2017 which collected over 1000 responses shows only 30 per cent of respondents believe "care support organisations *always* include carers' views when they plan and delivery services that affect the care relationship". The Victorian Carer Recognition Act does not include any measures to enforce the inclusion of carers' views or needs in any service design or delivery. This resonates with comments made earlier regarding the NDIS Act 2013 which only provides nominal recognition of carers and no legal duty to consider their needs.

How have the roles and responsibilities of Governments changed since the NDA was updated in 2012? Are roles and responsibilities clear?

It is clear the roles and responsibilities of Governments have changed since the NDA was updated in 2012. Legislation and funding of disability services for people with disability eligible for individualised funding packages through the NDIS will rest solely with the Commonwealth government after full roll-out in 2019. The regulation, service quality and assurance of services provided for NDIS participants are moving to the Commonwealth with the establishment of the NDIS Quality and Safeguards Commission.

The role of the Victorian Government in disability services has changed dramatically since 2012 from a direct funder and service provider to maintaining a legislative and regulatory function. In light of its changed function, the State Government has recently introduced legislation to establish the Disability Worker Registration Board of Victoria and the Victorian Disability Worker Commission in addition to introducing the first disability abuse prevention strategy. Moreover, the Department of Health and Human Services is currently divesting itself of service delivery in its supported accommodation properties and out-of-home respite

facilities. Five Supported Independent Living (SIL) providers have just been announced after the Government called for expressions of interest from providers who could demonstrate their capacity to deliver services across the state.

The Victorian Government maintains oversight of the transitioning disability landscape by convening the Victorian NDIS Implementation Taskforce and sub-working groups including participant readiness, participants with complex needs sub-working group and housing working group. Carers Victoria participates in these important consultative mechanisms which involve people with disability, the NDIA, service providers, academics and other public servants. Carers Victoria commends such opportunities to share information with key stakeholders and the Victorian Government's commitment to ensure resources are available to address transition-specific challenges. For instance, the State Government has established two teams to effectively address challenges raised in the NDIS transition: an Intensive Support Team and Supported Access Team. The Intensive Support Team is intended to support NDIS participants with complex needs who also interact/engage with Victorian agencies such as Justice, Child Protection and Health. The Supported Access Team undertakes active outreach to individuals and communities who may not wish to engage with formal services such as those which can be delivered by the NDIS. This team also ensures individuals who were included in 'defined programs' by DHHS (and were automatically eligible for the NDIS) but who the NDIA could not effectively contacted.

In relation to carers, the Victorian Government's responsibilities have been less clear. Carer recognition has been legislated since 2012 and the inaugural Victorian Carer Strategy launched in July 2018. By launching its whole-of-government Victorian Carer Strategy 2018-22 which recognises carers' rights as citizens, the Victorian Government has begun to strategically address the unique and specific needs of people in care relationships across areas such as employment, health, education and financial disadvantage. The strategy reflects the breadth of carer experiences, including the unique needs of both young and older carers.

Carers Victoria commends the Victorian Government's intention to "monitor and review data from various services to see what progress is being made as" changes are introduced. Similarly, the intention to include carers when conducting annual forums to review the strategy implementation from July 2019 is a positive step in supporting a community of empowered carers.

However, we also expect the Victorian Government to:

- Provide clear timelines for developing new program and service guidelines
- Develop frameworks to connect data from a range of government departments
- Develop a comprehensive community engagement plan
- Ensure carers who are engaged in decision making and monitoring of the Carer
 Strategy reflect the diversity of Victoria's carers as well as address the barriers carers
 can face in engaging with feedback mechanisms
- Establish an independent review of the current Strategy commencing in 2021
- Determine the new priorities for the next Strategy in 2021

.

How has the introduction of the NDIS impacted on access to services for people not eligible for the NDIS?

As people not eligible for the NDIS in many cases (despite the fact 31% of Victorian carers report living with a disability themselves), ¹⁹ carers have been significantly impacted by its introduction. Funding for the NDIS has progressively transitioned from the following Commonwealth programs as regions in Victoria have or will transition to the Scheme: Respite support for carers of young people with severe or profound disability, Young Carers Respite and Information Services, Mental Health Respite: Carer Support and Better Start

It is unclear what work the Governments are doing to map the emerging service gaps produced by changes in funding to the non-government sector. For example, carers have consistently reported to Carers Victoria their carer support groups are no longer being funded because service providers are no longer block-funded, and carers are no longer a target group of either the Commonwealth Home Support Program, disability or mental health services.

Moreover, the transformation of the social service landscape in the wake of the NDIS and other reforms in aged care cannot be underestimated. Some organisations which relied on block funding have not been able to successfully transition to the business model underwritten by the NDIS. This may be due to the organisation's own inability to innovate and respond to a changing market, however, there have been several independent reports stating the funding models embedded in the NDIS are not viable to sustain organisations, quality staff retention and service delivery.²⁰ ²¹It is likely without a comprehensive community services sector, families and carers will be required to provide more intensive levels of caring than before.

Should the agreement have regard to the way States and Territories are delivering services to people with a disability outside the NDIS (for example, through mainstream services or through specialist disability services)? If so, why?

State and Territory Governments no longer fund and regulate basic community care for people under the age of 65 in line with their principal responsibility for delivery of other disability services under the Agreement. An exception is the Victorian government's commitment to provide limited funding for a basic Home and Community Care Program for Younger People (HACC-PYP) for people aged under 65 with support needs who are not eligible for individualised funding under the NDIS. However, demand for this program currently exceeds supply, especially for community nursing services. This has significant impact on carers required to provide additional care in the absence of formal services. Carers Victoria is aware of carers, who are required to pay for these services privately or, are no longer able to access respite care services due to the person receiving care's need for nursing services.

The Victorian government is still responsible for funding and delivering disability services prior to full NDIS roll out, yet little work has yet been done in mapping emergent service gaps for 'consumer' or 'carer' cohorts.

The interface between specialist disability services and mainstream services such as transport, health, education and employment are also undergoing significant transformation. Each State and Territory government is developing its own strategies and mechanisms for these interfaces. However, there continues to be a reluctance in some areas of government to support and enforce the best opportunities for people with disability, their families and carers.

I've worked out a special plan with my school where I'm doing four subjects over three years, instead of five subjects over two years. Doing the six subjects that's normal for my school - I just wasn't able to function and I was pretty much drowning in work and I actually had to go to my year level coordinator because I knew I wasn't coping. It's definitely released the stress load but it's still kind of stressful.

Participant in young carer consultation 2017

Education – children are all home educated because schools do NOT assist special needs kids find their special gifts. Nor do they provide support and time for the special needs child to focus on what could be the only real way they can earn money or have self esteem as adults – be it science or writing or the arts. Schools also do NOT protect special kids in any effective way for bullying. We experienced first hand all of these issues and it's clear our former public school was typical for the above issues.

Respondent to 2017 Carer Survey

Carers Victoria strongly recommends the Agreement have regard to the way States and Territories are delivering services to people with a disability outside the NDIS.

References

23

¹ Carers Victoria submission (6 July 2017) Rights in Specialist Disability Accommodation Consultation Paper; http://www.carersvictoria.org.au/Assets/Files/2017-July-CV%20submission-%20Rights%20in%20SDA%20Consultation%20Paper.pdf

² Department of Health and Human Services (June 2018) <u>Absolutely everyone</u>: State disability plan annual report 2017 (accessed August 31 2018).

³ Australian Bureau of Statistics (2015) Survey of Disability, Ageing and Carers

⁵ <u>David and National Disability Insurance Agency [2018] AATA 2709 (8 August 2018);</u> (accessed August 30 2018)

⁶ Summer Foundation (June 2018) <u>NDIS Report Card</u>: Outcomes for younger people in residential aged care (accessed August 30 2018)

⁷ http://www.abc.net.au/news/2018-02-21/disability-support-pension-applicants-rejected-after-crackdown/9465822 (accessed August 30 2018)

 ⁸ Carers Australia (2018) <u>Submission</u> to the Department of Jobs and Small Business
 Discussion Paper: the next generation of employment services (accessed August 31 2018)
 ⁹ ABS (2015) Disability, Ageing and Carers, Australia, Victoria, Catalogue # 4430.0

¹⁰ Carers NSW (November 2012) Carers NDSW 2012 Carer Survey <u>Final Report</u> (accessed August 30 2018)

¹¹ Australian Unity Wellbeing Index: The Wellbeing of Australians – Carer Health and Wellbeing, Survey 17.1, Report 17.1, 2007, p5

¹² Watts, J. H., & Cavaye, J. (2016). Being a Former Carer: Impacts on Health and Well-Being. *Illness, Crisis & Loss*.

¹³ Hammond, T., Weinberg, M. K., & Cummins, R. A. (2014). The dyadic interaction of relationships and disability type on informal carer subjective well-being. Quality of Life Research, 23(5), 1535-1542.

¹⁴ Edwards, B., 2008, 'Section D: The mental and physical health of families caring for a person with a disability', in Edwards, B., Higgins, D., J., Gray, M., Zmijewski, N & Kingston, M., (eds), 'The nature and impact of caring for family members with a disability in Australia', Research Report 16, Australian Government, the Australian Institute of Family Studies, ACT, pgs. 56 - 64

¹⁵ Watts, J. H., & Cavaye, J. (2016). Being a Former Carer: Impacts on Health and Well-Being. *Illness, Crisis & Loss*.

¹⁶ O'Dwyer, S. T., Moyle, W., Zimmer-Gembeck, M., & De Leo, D. (2013). Suicidal ideation in family carers of people with dementia: a pilot study. International journal of geriatric psychiatry, 28(11), 1182-1188.

¹⁷ O'Dwyer, S. T., Moyle, W., Pachana, N. A., Sung, B., & Barrett, S. (2014). Feeling that life is not worth living (death thoughts) among middle-aged, Australian women providing unpaid care. Maturitas, 77(4), 375-379.

¹⁸ Carers NSW (November 2012) Carers NDSW 2012 Carer Survey <u>Final Report</u> (accessed August 30 2018).

¹⁹ ABS (2015) Disability, Ageing and Carers, Australia, Victoria, Catalogue # 4430.0

²⁰ McKinsey & Company (February 2018) Independent Pricing Review: National Disability Insurance Agency, Final Report.

²¹ Cortis, N., Macdonald, F., Davidson, B. and E. Bentham (June 2017) *Reasonable, necessary and valued: pricing disability services for quality support and decent jobs* (SPRC Report 10/17). Sydney: Social Policy Research Centre, UNSW Sydney. http://doi.org/10.4225/53/59681e589e44b